### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

VINCENT FRANCIS GALLO,

CASE NO. 67,254

Petitioner,

DCA CASE NO. 84-1618

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

FILED SID J. WHITE

JUL 18 1985

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

JOHN C. RAYSON, ESQ. Attorney for Petitioner SHERMAN & RAYSON 2400 E. Oakland Park Blvd. Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33306 (305) 566-8855

TL. BAR # 204 193

#

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Petitioner, VINCENT FRANCIS GALLO, was charged by information dated December 03, 1982, with having, between November 6 and 7, 1982, committed the crimes of kidnapping with a deadly weapon, sexual battery with a deadly weapon, 2 Counts, and unlawful use of a firearm in the commission of a felony upon the complaining witness, CHRISTINE CURRID. (R.p.530)

The evidence shows that between 11:00 - 11:30 P.M. on November 06, 1982, the witness, CHRISTINE CURRID, decided to go to a Burger King. (R.p.67,L.15-19) While walking, she met a man who offered her a ride. (R.p.70,L.4-6) She was then bound and a hood was placed over her head. (R.p.72,L.7,14-17) and the man "made me have oral sex". (R.p.73,L.18) She claimed he had a gun. (R.p.94,L.9) When asked, however, if she went with him willingly, she stated, "At first, yes". (R.p.76,L.1) In addition to all this activity, she claims they were driving at the time. (R.p.74,L.14)

The witness further claims that she was then taken to a residence where the man allegedly had sexual intercourse with her. (R.p.80,L.14-22) After 45 minutes to an hour (R.p.84,L.18) she

was transported by car, with the hood on her head (R.p.89,L.2-10) and released.

She went to a house nearby and asked the people there to take her home. (R.p.91,L.6-7) She was taken to the police station (R.p.91,L.8) where she claimed to have gotten part of a license number, but she stated, "I didn't get a good look at it". (R.p.104,L.16) She clearly described her attacker as a young man, 25-35 years old. (R.p.103,L.4-5) From her tag description, the police came up with a tag registered to the Petitioner, with some similar letters in it. (R.p.267,L.4-8) The police then took Ms. CURRID to Mr. GALLO'S house to identify the Appellant. said "she wasn't sure". (R.p.269,L.19) The police and the witness left. Later she accused Mr. GALLO. Mr. GALLO maintained his innocence and stated that, although he had gone out on a date with a friend (R.p.376,L.2-6) and had gone to his mother's house to drop off some personal property (R.p.377-L.13-18), until the police came to his house on November 07, 1982, he had never encountered the State's witness before. (R.p. 366, L. 15-18)

At the time of the charge conference, the Defense requested a waiver of lesser included offenses and the prosecution agreed. The Court refused. (R.p.411,L.19-25)

The Court then gave, over defense objection, instructions on what it deemed lesser included instructions. Although the Court gave instructions to the jury on attempted sexual battery, it neglected to give an instruction on attempted kidnapping.

The jury acquitted the Petitioner on all of the charges in the Information, but agreed on convictions for three (3)

lesser included offenses. After post-trial motions were denied, the Appellant filed his timely appeal.

On appeal, the Fourth District Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions and sentences, but had difficulty in determining the meaning of the Supreme Court's holding in <u>Harris v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 787 (Fla.1983), <u>cert denied</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 104 S.Ct. 2181, 80 L.Ed.2d 563 (1984). They certified a question to the Supreme Court regarding the meaning of that case, whereby the Petitioner has filed his brief in response to that question.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In the first Issue, Petitioner asserts that every criminal defendant has rights that he can either retain or waive.

Once he knowingly and intelligently elects to waive the right to have jury instructions on lesser included offenses, the State, by agreeing to such a waiver, also relinquishes its rights to have such instructions given. Any subsequent instructions that include those lesser offenses clearly violates the defendant's rights by forcing upon him the right which he has waived.

The second Issue reflects the harmful error which the trial court committed by giving instructions on the lesser offenses which had already been waived. When a defendant requests instructions on lesser offenses, the law is clear that the trial judge must so instruct, otherwise, reversible error is committed. But, when the defendant has waived those instructions and the State acquiesced, the trial judge must take notice of that waiver and the rights which have been relinquished and respect the decision of the parties. No instructions should be given because it will result in harmful error.

In the third Issue, Petitioner argues that the offense for which he was convicted was not a lesser offense of the crime charged by information. When a conviction occurs for any crime for which there are no prior allegations, there is fundamental error because the defendant has not had a full and fair opportunity to present his case.

In the fourth and last Issue, Petitioner argues that when an attempt to commit a crime is itself an offense, the trial

judge must relate that in the instructions. As the trial judge in the instant case took it upon himself to instruct on lesser offenses, he must properly instruct as to only the applicable offenses. He failed to give an instruction on attempted kidnapping, and cearly, this in and of itself must be deemed harmful error.

The totality of the circumstances of this case show that Petitioner GALLO did not receive due process and a fair trial. His identification, as a result of a show up, wherein the prosecutrix "wasn't sure" he was the perpetrator, led to a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. The trial court refused to waive giving instructions on lesser offenses in spite of the proper waiver by the defendant and the State's agreement to waive the lessers. Only after the trial court told the State it would not waive the lessers did the State in effect say, "in that case, the State wants lessers". Lastly, when the court gave the lessers over the defense objections and proper waiver, it gave improper instructions. The law requires instructions on the next lower crime where lessers are properly given. By failing to give the attempted kidnapping instruction, the court committed per se reversible error. It should be noted that the defendant was acquitted of all charges in the information and only convicted of the lessers he had waived.

# ARGUMENT ISSUE I.

# CERTIFIED QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE FROM THE 4TH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

"Is the state entitled to have jury instructions given on necessarily included lesser offenses in a case where the defendant requests that no such instructions be given and knowingly and intelligently waives his right to such instruction?"

"There are many basic rights that are secured to every defendant. He has the right to trial by jury. However, he may waive such right and submit the issues for determination by the judge ... We hold further, that he may waive his right to have the jury charged as to lesser and included offenses." (emphasis added) Black v. State, 279 So.2d 909, 910 (Fla.3rd DCA 1973). This is exactly what the Petitioner, VINCENT FRANCIS GALLO, requested at his trial. Both the Petitioner and his trial counsel objected to the inclusion of jury instructions regarding any lesser offenses and the record reflected the acquiescence by the State. (R.p.411)

An analogy can be drawn regarding the right to waive on lesser included offenses jury instructions, and the right to waive trial by jury. In <u>State Ex Rel. Gerstein v. Baker</u>, 339 So.2d 271 (Fla.3rd DCA 1976), the Court noted that, "...the state must consent to a waiver of a jury trial sought by a defendant." In the instant case, the State did consent to the defendant's request, whereby the right becomes inherent in the defendant and the State cannot take it away for fear of violating the defendant's rights. It is the state's prerogative and power to charge a defendant by

information or indictment and to include within that charging document any and all offenses which the state deems applicable. The defendant pleads guilty or not guilty to the charges as contained within that document. At trial, if the state has failed in its burden to prove the allegations contained within that document, the ability to request the inclusion of instructions on lesser offenses becomes the right of the defendant. "If requested by the defendant instructions must be given on all leser included offenses which are necessarily included in the offense charged ... "Jackson v. State, 355 So.2d 137 (Fla.3rd DCA 1978) (emphasis added)

Arguably, the right to request the instructions on lesser offenses can inure to either party, but once there is a valid waiver by one party and consent by the other, those instructions must not be given. The State controls the destiny of its case, and by agreeing to the defendant's request not to instruct on lesser offenses, they have acquiesced to the procedure whereby the jury's verdict must rest upon proof of the crimes as charged in the information.

### ISSUE II.

"Where the defindant waives instructions on lesser included offenses, and the state consents to the waiver, it is reversible error when the court subsequently gives those instructions and the jury convicts on lessers only."

The main purpose for this cause coming before this Honorable Court is that the Fourth District Court of Appeals was unsure of the meaning of this Court's decision in Harris v. State, 438 So. 2d 787 (Fla. 1983). In Harris, supra, this Court dealt with the fact that the defendant had waived his right to instructions on lesser offenses, and on appeal, argued that there should have been the inclusion of certain lesser offenses. Although the facts are dissimilar to the ones presented in the instant case, the Harris holding is extremely important to the issue presented in this case. Petitioner GALLO knowingly waived his right to the lesser offense instructions and the state agreed to the waiver. (R.p.417) The trial judge instructed on lessers anyway over defendant's objections. (R.p.418) On appeal, the Petitioner sought reversal of his conviction as the trial judge's actions should be deemed fundamental and reversible error since GALLO was only convicted of lesser offenses.

In the <u>Harris</u>, <u>supra</u>, opinion, this Court has created a dichotomy whereby in one paragraph it states that "...a trial judge is required to instruct on necessarily included offenses because the law, particularly 919.16, requires it." <u>Harris</u> at 796, citing <u>Brown v. State</u>, 206 So.2d 377 (Fla.1968), and in another paragraph states, "[t]his procedural right to have instructions on

necessarily included lesser offenses given to the jury does not mean, however, that a defendant may not waive his right just as he may expressly waive his right to a jury trial." <u>Harris</u>, at 797.

If the defendant has such a right and has effectively waived it, what purpose does that waiver serve when the trial judge can note it, disregard it, and give instructions as he deems necessary?

"It is erroneous to give an instruction which calculated to make the jury believe that they must find accused guilty in some degree, and that they cannot acquit him; ..." 23A C.J.S. Criminal Law §1288. Petitioner GALLO was not found guilty as charged, but rather, guilty of a lesser offense to which both he and his trial counsel objected.

The <u>Harris</u>, <u>supra</u>, decision contains one important distinquishable factor to the instant case, that being the reference to <u>State v. Washington</u>, 268 So.2d 901 (Fla. 1972), and its reaffirmation in <u>Rayner v. State</u>, 273 So.2d 759 (Fla. 1973) and <u>Williams v. State</u>, 285 So.2d 13 (Fla. 1973). This Court notes in <u>Harris</u>, at 796, that "[i]n none of these cases did the defendant expressly waive his right to have such an instruction given." Again, the trial record in the instant case reflects the fact that Petitioner GALLO knowingly and intelligently waived that right and the State consented. Upon this fact alone, it is imperative that this Court take notice and clarify the law regarding knowing, intelligent waiver of lesser included offenses. The rights of the accused must be preserved whereby those rights have true meaning and force

within all judicial proceedings. This is not a case where lessers were asked to be given and weren't, which we know is the law.

Rather, it is a situation where there was a proper waiver by the defendant and consent by the State and a veto by the trial court of the waiver of lessers, followed by improper instructions on lessers and convictions of the defendant on lesser offenses only, making it clearly harmful error.

### ISSUE III.

"The trial judge committed error by instructing the jury on a lesser offense which was not a proper lesser of the crime charged in the information."

In his instructions to the jury, the trial judge addressed the two counts of sexual battery with the use of firearm, charged pursuant to §794.011(3) Fla. Stat. (1982), by stating that lesser included crimes are attempted sexual battery with a firearm, sexual battery with force not likely to cause serious injury, and battery. (R.p.503-506) Not only were these instructions objected to by the Petitioner and his trial counsel, but they are clearly erroneous as they are not all lesser offenses of the crime charged.

The Petitioner was convicted under \$.794.011(5) Fla. Stat. (1982) of sexual battery with force not likely to cause serious injury (R.p.527). In <u>Bragg v. State</u>, 433 So.2d 1375 (Fla.2d DCA 1983), the court stated that

"[i] n order for sexual battery under subsection (5) to be a category 1 necessarily included offense of subsection (3), it must be an essential aspect of the major offense, such that the burden of proof of the major crime cannot be discharged without proving the lesser crime as an essential link in chain of evidence. Harris v. State, 338 So.2d 880 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976). The court in Harris stated that when a defendant is charged under subsection (3) with the use or threat of use of a deadly weapon, it is unnecessary for the state to allege or prove the use of actual physical force in any degree. 'Want of consent under such circumstances stems from fear created by display of the deadly weapon, and not from physical force.' Harris 338 So.2d at 882. In other words, the major crime here could have been proved without the mention of either great or slight force. Thus, sexual battery using slight force is not a necessarily included

offense of sexual battery under subsection (3), when the defendant is only charged with the use or threatened use of a deadly weapon." Bragg at 1377.

Petitioner GALLO has been acquitted of sexual battery under §794.011(3) Fla. Stat. (1982) and wrongfully convicted of sexual battery under §794.011(5) Fla. Stat. (1982), as the offense for which the Petitioner was convicted was not charged in the information, fundamental harmful error has been committed and the conviction must be reversed. See <u>Smith v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 405 (Fla.3d DCA 1978).

### ISSUE IV.

"The Court committed error by failing to instruct the jury on attempted kidnapping as a lesser included offense."

In <u>Brown v. State</u>, 206 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1968), this Court has established the basic criteria for instructions to the jury. In <u>Brown</u>, <u>supra</u>, there is a general rule that an instruction on attempt to commit the offense should be given to the jury when in fact, an attempt is itself an offense. In Florida, attempted kidnapping is an offense and as such was necessary to be included in the trial judge's instructions.

In his instructions, the trial judge included the charged offense (kidnapping with the use of a firearm), kidnapping without the use of a firearm, and false imprisonment. (R.p.502-503) Petitioner GALLO was convicted of the lesser offense, kidnapping without the use of a firearm. (R.p.526-527) These instructions are dreadfully lacking and rife with error. In <u>Cabe v. State</u>, 408 So.2d 694 (Fla.1st DCA 1982), the Court reasoned that it is reversible error not to instruct on an offense which is one step removed from the crime which the defendant has been convicted. In the instant case, the attempted kidnapping instruction would be a proper instruction under lesser offenses, but the failure to give such instruction is harmful error and the conviction must not be allowed to stand.

### CONCLUSION

Petitioner, VINCENT FRANCIS GALLO'S due process rights were violated in that he did not receive a fair trial. The identification was highly suspect, yet his motion to suppress it was denied. Petitioner and the State agreed at the charge conference to waive instructions on lesser included offenses. The waiver was knowingly and intelligently waived by the Defendant. The lower court refused to waive lessers and gave lessers over the objections of the Petitioner and his counsel. The trial court committed reversible error when it failed to give an instruction on attempted kidnapping once it had decided that it would not honor the waiver of Petitioner.

By overriding the clear waiver of lessers, the trial court committed error which was not harmless because the Petitioner was convicted of lesser offenses only. He was acquitted of the charges in the information.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal was troubled by the trial court's actions by virtue of this Court's ruling in <u>Harris</u>

<u>v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 787 (Fla. 1983). Hence, the certified question presented.

It is Petitioner GALLO'S position that this Court has held that a defendant may waive his right to have instructions on lesser included offenses. This is precisely what Petitioner GALLO did! In <u>Harris</u>, this Court held, "This procedural right to have instructions on necessarily included lesser offenses given to the jury does not mean, however, that a defendant may not waive his

right just as he may expressly waive his right to a jury trial. (Citations) Patton v. United States, 281 U.S. 276, 50 S.Ct. 253, 74 L.Ed. 854 (1930) Davis v. States, 159 Fla. 838, 32 So.2d 827 (1947) Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.260. But, for an an effective waiver, there must be more than just a request from counsel that these instructions not be given. We conclude that there must be an express waiver of the right to these instructions by the defendant and the record must reflect that it was knowingly and intelligently We hold that, upon the facts in this case, Petitioner knowmade. ingly and intelligently waived his right to instructions on necessarily included lesser offenses ... The Fourth District Court of Appeal found that Petitioner made knowing and intelligent waiver. Under the circumstances of this case, the lower court committed reversible error. Clearly, under the holding of Harris, Petitioner GALLO is entitled to a reversal of his conviction.