SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OCT & 1985
OLGRA, SEPTEME COURT

VINCENT FRANCIS GALLO,

Petitioner,

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 67,254

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

JIM SMITH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

ROBERT S. JAEGERS Assistant Attorney General 111 Georgia Avenue West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (305) 837-5062

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

POINT I

CERTIFIED QUESTION

Just as is the case with waivers of jury trials, the consent of the State is required before instructions upon lesser included offenses can be waived by a defendant. The State is entitled to have the jury consider the defendant's liability for necessarily lesser—included offenses as well as the main offense because charging a defendant with the highest appropriate offense does not mean that the State must necessarily risk giving up the right to prove lesser charges against the defendant.

The following points were raised in and rejected by the District Court and this Court should not review them again.

POINT II

Petitioner made no express waiver of the instructions upon lesser included offenses before the State Attorney requested the court to instruct the jury upon said offenses. The State must consent to a defendant's waiver of the instructions. As the State requested instructions upon lesser included offenses, it is clear that the State did not consent to the waiver and the trial court could not thereafter properly dispense with instructing the jury upon the lesser included offenses.

POINT III

As petitioner made no appropriate objections to any specific instructions, but only a general objection to the giving of instructions upon lesser included offenses, Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure Rule 3.390 provides that petitioner may not assign as error grounds of appeal the giving of any instruction in this case.

POINT IV

Petitioner's counsel thought the kidnapping instruction was "pretty good" and did not object to it. As petitioner failed to object to the instruction, and failed to object to the trial court's failure to instruct, Rule 3.390 precludes assignment of this issue as error.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

CERTIFIED QUESTION

IS THE STATE ENTITLED TO HAVE JURY INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN ON NECESSARILY INCLUDED LESSER OFFENSES IN A CASE WHERE THE DEFENDANT REQUESTS THAT NO SUCH INSTRUCTIONS BE GIVEN AND KNOWINGLY AND INTELLIGENTLY WAIVES HIS RIGHT TO SUCH INSTRUCTION?

The issue stated above, which has been certified as a question of great public importance, has been analogized, by Petitioner Gallo, to a defendant's right to a jury trial. Respondent concurs. Rule 3.260, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, states: "A defendant may in writing waive a jury trial with the consent of the State." Thus a defendant may attempt to give up his right to a jury trial, but his unilateral action has absolutely no effect upon the State, which must consent to a waiver of a jury trial sought by a defendant. When the State fails to consent to a defendant's motion to waive trial by jury, it is not error for the trial court to deny the motion. State ex rel. Gerstein v. Baker, 339 So.2d 271 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1976); Thomas v. State, 328 So.2d 545 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1976). Further, there is no constitutional right to have one's case tried before a judge without a jury. Thomas.

In <u>Harris v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 787 (Fla. 1983), <u>cert</u>.

<u>denied</u>, ___U.S.___, 104 S.Ct. 2181, 80 L.Ed.2d 563 (1984), this

Court held that the defendant's waiver precluded

him from complaining on appeal of the trial court's failure to give instructions on lesser included offenses. In that case there was an agreement and stipulation by the defense, which logically was made in concert with the State (although the opinion does not specify the State was a party to the agreement and stipulation). Id. at 796. Therefore it would appear, in the absence of any contrary indications, that the State gave its consent to the waiver of instructions in Harris. This is not the situation presented in the instant issue on appeal. The Fourth District Court of Appeal held below that there was a "belated but timely request of the state" for the jury instructions on lesser included offenses. 10 F.L.W. 1443 (Fla. 4th DCA 12 June 1985). In light of this holding it is clear that the State did not consent to the Petitioner's request, contrary to Petitioner's contention in his Brief at page six.

Respondent suggests this Court should adopt the language of the Fourth District's opinion below.

...[S]ince the charging document, as a matter of law, includes all necessarily lesser included offenses that the state may have charged, we believe the state was entitled to have the jury consider the appellant's liability for such offenses as well as the main offense charged. State v. Bruns, 429 So.2d 307 (Fla. 1983); Brown v. State, 206 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1968). While a defendant may be charged with the highest offense that a prosecutor or grand jury believes appropriate considering the available evidence, that does not mean that the

state must necessarily risk giving up the right to prove a lesser charge against the defendant. For instance, in a case where aggravated battery is charged, we believe the state would be entitled to have the jury charged on the offense of simple battery.

Id.

This Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative based upon the foregoing argument and authorities and approve the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal affirming the judgment and sentence of the trial court.

POINT II

THE STATE DID NOT CONSENT TO THE PETITIONER'S WAIVER OF INSTRUCTIONS OF LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSES. (RESTATED).

Initially, the State would submit that this Court should not exercise its discretion to consider this issue on appeal, where it was raised and rejected by the Fourth District. As this Court stated in State v. Hegstrom, 407 So.2d 1343, 1344 (Fla. 1981), this Court will not accept a case for review on one basis and then reweigh the evidence once reviewed by the district court, in order to provide a second record review of cases already resolved by the district courts of appeal. See also Sobel v. State, 437 So.2d 144, 148 (Fla. 1983). This Court should thus accept the holding of the Fourth District that the prosecutor had made a timely request for instructions, and did not consent to the proposed waiver of instructions.

If this Court should decide to exercise its discretion to review this issue, then the State submits that it is without merit.

Respondent has repeated his argument made upon the certified question in Point I but now <u>sua sponte</u> assumes the holding of the Fourth District Court of Appeal has been reversed insofar as the State having made a timely request for the instructions on lesser included offenses. Respondent offers no argument and no authority for this assumption. The

record is quite clear that no express waiver was made by Petitioner which would meet the <u>Harris</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 797, criteria before the state attorney requested the lesser included offenses be instructed upon (in effect, withdrawing his somewhat flippant statement of "That's fine with me, Judge."). (R. 411). Petitioner is merely making an unsupported assumption that the trial court must take the prosecutor's first comment as a complete waiver of the State of Florida's right to have the jury instructed upon lesser included offenses. Common sense alone dictates that such an assumption is false, notwithstanding the holding of the District Court below which held the prosecutor did not consent to waive the subject instructions. 10 F.L.W. 1443, supra.

There being no consent to the waiver by the State, the trial court could not properly dispense with instructing the jury upon the lesser included offenses after the state attorney requested they be given. (R. 412). Harris, supra, at 796; Brown, supra, at 382; Reddick v. State, 394 So.2d 417 (Fla. 1981); State v. Abreau, 363 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1978); State v. Thomas, 362 So.2d 1348 (Fla. 1978); Lomax v. State, 345 So.2d 719 (Fla. 1977).

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR BY INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON LESSER OFFENSES NOT CHARGED IN THE INFORMATION AS PETITIONER FAILED TO PROPERLY OBJECT TO THE INSTRUCTIONS AS GIVEN.

Initially, the state would submit that this Court should not exercise its discretion to consider this issue on appeal, where it was raised and rejected by the Fourth District. As this Court stated in State v. Hegstrom, 407 So.2d 1343, 1344 (Fla. 1981), this Court will not accept a case for review on one basis and then reweigh the evidence once reviewed by the district court, in order to provide a second record review of cases already resolved by the district courts of appeal. See also Sobel v. State, 437 So.2d 144, 148 (Fla. 1983).

If this Court should decide to exercise its discretion to review this issue, then the State submits that it is without merit.

Petitioner did not make any appropriate objections in the trial court to the instructions which he, on appeal, complains were error. Instead, Petitioner objected below to giving instructions upon any lesser included offenses. (See record page 411 et seq.)

Petitioner attempts to claim these general objections are sufficient to permit him to assign as error the instructions as given by the trial court. He is in error. Fla.R.Crim.P. Rule 3.390 provides:

(d) No party may assign as error grounds of appeal the giving or failure to give an instruction unless he objects thereto before the jury retires to consider its verdict, stating distinctly the matter to which he objects, and the grounds of his objection.

Opportunity shall be given to make the objection out of the presence of the jury.

Petitioner obviously did not clearly state his objections to the specific instructions he now claims as error, despite his representation in his brief at page 11.

Appellant's contention that this was fundamental error, and that the case of Smith v. State, 365 So.2d 405 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978) supports this contention is clearly erroneous. Smith concerned Florida Statutes §794.011(3) and §794.011(4)(b), not §795.011(5), as here. Petitioner has made no offer of authority to support his patently incorrect position that §794.011(5) is not a lesser included offense of §794.011(3). Respondent submits to this Court that Petitioner is absolutely wrong! See Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, 262, 263. In Hicks v. State, 362 So.2d 730 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978) cited as controlling by Smith, which Petitioner relies upon, the Appellant had properly objected to the giving of the instruction, which was found to be in error. There was no fundamental error found.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED NO ERROR BY NOT INSTRUCTING THE JURY UPON ATTEMPTED KIDNAPPING, A CATEGORY 2 LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE, WHEN SUCH INSTRUCTION WAS NOT REQUESTED AND NO OBJECTION WAS MADE TO THE TRIAL COURT OF THE FAILURE TO GIVE THE INSTRUCTION.

Initially, the State would submit that this Court should not exercise its discretion to consider this issue on appeal, where it was raised and rejected by the Fourth District. As this Court stated in State v. Hegstrom, 407 So.2d 1343, 1344 (Fla. 1981), this Court will not accept a case for review on one basis and then reweigh the evidence once reviewed by the district court, in order to provide a second record review of cases already resolved by the district courts of appeal. See also Sobel v. State, 437 So.2d 144, 148 (Fla. 1983).

If this Court should decide to exercise its discretion to review this issue, then the State submits that it is without merit.

Again, Petitioner fails to recognize that the instruction must be requested, or, at least, the failure to instruct must be objected to <u>before</u> the jury retires, <u>by stating distinctly the matter to which he objects</u>. <u>Fla.R.Crim.P.</u> Rule 3.390. See Argument, Point III, supra.

Petitioner cites <u>Cabe v. State</u>, 408 So.2d 694 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) where the District Court reversed and

remanded for a new trial because the trial court refused to instruct upon an offense which was one step removed from the crime for which the defendant was convicted after the defendant requested an instruction upon that offense. As Petitioner failed to request any instructions sub judice, and made no objection to the trial court's failure to instruct the jury upon any offense, he may not maintain this assignment of error on appeal. Fla.R.Crim.P. Rule 3.390.

This fourth issue was, to undersigned counsel, not apparently raised in the Petitioner's Appellate Briefs in the District Court. Only after a closer review of the argument presented in "ISSUE II" of Appellant's Initial Brief did counsel for Respondent become aware that the Appellant had injected, without a heading, an argument, that error might exist for <u>failure</u> to instruct upon certain lesser included offenses, into the midst of his argument that error might exist for the <u>giving</u> of instructions upon any offenses except those contained on the face of the indictment. For this misunderstanding undersigned counsel must apologize.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, as supported by the authorities cited herein, the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeals, cited at 10 F.L.W. 1443, should be approved.